FELASA Working Group Standardization of Enrichment Working Group Report

Members of the Working Group:

Vera Baumans (NVP), Peter Clausing (GV-SOLAS), Robert Hubrecht (LASA), Annie Reber (AFSTAL), Augusto Vitale (AISAL), Emmanuel Wyffels (BCLAS); Corresponding Member: Marcel Gyger (SGV)

Table of contents:

- 1. Preamble
- 2. Principles of Environmental Enrichment and their harmonization
- 2.1 Animal needs and their relationship with Environmental Enrichment
- 2.2 Complexity, control, predictability
- 2.3 Harmonisation of different features

3. Principles of the evaluation of environmental enrichment

4. Validity and variability

- 4.1 Enrichment and Variability
- 4.2 Enrichment and Experimental Bias

5. Species related types of environmental enrichment

- 5.1. Social enrichment
- 5.1.1 Social contact enrichment
- 5.1.2 Social non-contact enrichment
- 5.2 Physical enrichment 5.2.1

Complexity

- 5.2.2 Sensory enrichment
- 5.2.3 Nutritional enrichment
- 5.3 Species related EE programs

6. Points to consider when implementing environmental enrichment

programmes

- 6.1 Interaction with the experiment
- 6.2 Practical considerations for staff of implementing enrichment
- 6.3 Occupational health and safety aspects
- 6.4 Financial aspects
- 6.5 Good laboratory practice (GLP) aspects
- 6.6 Training of staff and communication with researchers
- 6.7 Unwanted side effects of enrichment on animal welfare
- 6.8 *Observability of the animals*
- 6.9 Sudden changes of environmental enrichment when animals are transferred
- 6.10 Encourage EE description in the "methods section" of journal publications

7. Conclusions & Recommendations

8. References

1. Preamble

In laboratory animals, environmental enrichment was originally used as an experimental tool in neurobehavioral research as early as in the 1940s (Hebb 1947). At that time it was considered to be *any modification of a captive animal's environment by providing physical or social stimuli*. Environmental enrichment was also developed for zoo enclosures in response to the abnormal behaviours shown by animals in environments that did not meet their needs. (Hediger 1950).

Subsequent to the emergence of laboratory science as a scientific discipline of its own in the 1960ies environmental enrichment was introduced as a concept in laboratory animal care in the 1980s, i.e. with a delay of about two decades. The definition of environmental enrichment became more specific and included explicitly the well-being of animals as its major goal, e.g.: *"Environmental enrichment is any modification in the environment of the captive animals that seeks to enhance its physical and psychological well-being by providing stimuli meeting the animals' species-specific needs"* (Baumans 2000). Even though enrichment was not a topic when Russel and Burch (1959) formulated their 3R-principles, it is obvious that the essence of enrichment in relation to animal welfare is refinement.

During the past twenty years considerable progress has been made concerning the knowledge about and the introduction of environmental enrichment as part of laboratory animal care and husbandry. This is reflected by an ever increasing body of literature related to this topic and – last but not least – by the inclusion of environmental enrichment into the draft revision of Appendix A of the *Convention for the Protection of Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and other Scientific Purposes* (ETS 123). Special paragraphs have been dedicated to environmental enrichment in the general section as well as in the species specific provisions of Appendix A and associated part B of this official European document.

The practical application of environmental enrichment led to a considerable variability of enrichment procedures. However, a number of enrichment procedures were not subjected to scientific scrutiny prior to their introduction. Instead, they became popular because of the commercialization of enrichment items or an anthropomorphic approach to the animal's situation rather than being based on sound evidence of the given procedure's welfare benefit.

The FELASA-working group on "Standardisation of Enrichment" was established with the goal to provide guidance how to standardize enrichment in laboratory animal enclosures such that essential species-specific needs and individual needs of gender and life stage are fulfilled to guarantee animal welfare to minimise interference with experimental results. In other words, the working group was required to create guidance on how to establish "good"/effective enrichment programs and eliminate "bad"/ineffective ones.

Because the development of environmental enrichment programs is an ongoing process, it was the consensus within the working group that future environmental enrichment innovation should not be hampered by the present effort. Thus, the working group prefers the term "harmonisation" instead of "standardisation" of enrichment procedures. Also, it was decided **not** to attempt yet another literature review that would become outdated within a few years (although the list of references became quite long). Emphasis was rather put on the formulation of principles – principles of environmental enrichment per se, principles of the evaluation of enrichment etc. These principles are intended as guidance, as a navigation tool for the future development in this particular area of animal welfare. The structure of the present document emerged from the above considerations. In the first chapter, "Principles of Environmental Enrichment and their Harmonisation", key concepts are presented for a general understanding of the topic, of how enrichment can benefit animal welfare and what needs to be kept in mind when aiming at the harmonisation of enrichment. As the working group is convinced that environmental enrichment needs thorough evaluation before it is put into broader practice, "Principles of the Evaluation of Environmental Enrichment" are provided in the following chapter. These principles are intended as food for thought to ensure that enrichment programmes are science-based and serve their purpose, i.e. improve animal welfare, as effectively as possible. One key concept of welfare-oriented enrichment is offering choices for the animal, and this necessarily involves diversification of its environment. Although it seems logical to expect that improving the animal's homeostasis would reduce variability, a number of researchers are concerned that enrichment instead might increase data variability or even compromise the experimental outcome. These aspects are addressed in the chapter "Validity and Variability". Environmental enrichment programmes should not only follow certain principles, but they should be evaluated before introduction and should support the validity of animal experiments instead of compromising them, they also encompass a wide variety of practical solutions, depending on the animal species and various other circumstances. This is the topic of a particular chapter entitled "Species Related Types of Environmental Enrichment". The principles of environmental enrichment will only become effective when put into practice in a way which is compatible with the technicalities and aims of the experimental design, including ergonomics and - if relevant - formal quality assurance requirements, known as GLP (Good Laboratory Practice). These problems are discussed in a "Points to consider" chapter, followed by "Conclusions & Recommendations".

It is hoped that the principles and considerations presented will contribute to a more harmonised evolution of future enrichment programmes and will help to abandon invalid concepts. Time will show whether this document is sufficiently general to survive the ongoing development in this field and at the same time is being specific enough to be a useful tool of guidance.

2. Principles of Environmental Enrichment and their harmonization

2.1 Animal needs and their relationship with Environmental Enrichment

The 'needs' concept has been incorporated into the European Directive (86/609/EEC), which states that "any restriction on the extent to which an experimental animal can satisfy its physiological and ethological needs shall be limited to an absolute minimum" (European Commission 1986; Article 5, paragraph b).

It is often assumed that the choice of a particular environmental enrichment is dictated by the will to satisfy a particular need of a particular animal held in captivity. When discussing animal welfare, the term "need" presents different characterizations. Curtis, for example, has proposed that animal welfare depends on a "hierarchy of needs": i) "physiological needs"; ii) "safety needs"; iii) "behavioural needs" (Curtis 1987). Later, other authors have identified "life-sustaining needs" as the most basic, followed by "health-sustaining needs" and "comfort sustaining needs" (Hurnik & Lehman 1988). However, it has been argued that the "catalogue approach" in relation to animal needs is not very effective, intended as being too simplistic (Jensen & Toates 1993). For example, nest building of domestic sows (*Sus scrofa*) and dustbathing in hens (*Gallus gallus*) have been described as very composite behaviours, in terms of the relationship between internal and external factors, that makes it difficult to categorise them as "needs" opposed to other items in their behavioural repertoire (see Jensen & Toates 1993).

It can be argued that the distinction between physiological needs and behavioural needs is, to say the least, blurred. Once we accept that animals have the possibility to suffer in psychological terms, not only physiological ones, then it follows that a bad mental state has its effects also on the physiology of that particular individual. Many examples of the influence of psychological stressors on the immune response of different species can be found in the literature. For example, in the classic work by Gaertner *et al.* (1980) it was shown that rats exhibited alterations in different physiological parameters (such as hormones concentration, heart rate, serum glucose) after being removed for one minute from their home cage. Furthermore, social stress has been observed to have various effects on the CNS in rodents, such as an increase in the number of mast cells (Cirulli *et al.* 1998), an increase in the level of NGF in plasma and hypothalamus (Alleva & Santucci 2001) (see also Claassen 1994, Bartolomucci *et al.* 2005, for a review). It can be proposed here that the attention to the behavioural needs of animals held in captivity can be a good strategy in order to ensure also the satisfaction of life-sustaining or health-sustaining needs.

Dawkins (1983) has linked an ethological or behavioural need with causal factors that lead the animal to perform a particular behaviour. When an animal is prevented from performing a certain behaviour it is highly motivated for, it can show stereotypical behaviours (Mason 1991a,b). The careful use of environmental enrichment can prevent the occurrence of abnormal behaviours, providing the animal with a physical or social context in which it can satisfy a certain behavioural need. For example, gerbils kept in a captive environment where they are not provided with an artificial burrow develop stereotyped digging. Such behavioural abnormality can be limited or prevented by enriching the cage with an opaque artificial nestbox (Waiblinger & Konig 2004, for review see also Shepherdson et al. 1999, Young 2003). However, it is not necessarily true that an environmental enrichment strategy must be aimed at letting the animal express as much as possible of its natural behavioural repertoire. Animals in the wild experience a series of stressful events (shortage of food, the presence of predators), which clearly would not be beneficial for them in captivity. As has been suggested by Veasey et al. (1996), we must instead focus on the possibility for the animal to respond in speciestypical manner to a series of stimuli provided in captivity. The series of stimuli proposed, for example as a series of enrichments, must take into account the natural history of that particular species. In this context, a basic principle to be taken in to account is that the behaviour of the species used in laboratory settings evolved in complex environments, characterized by a certain degree of predictability, and on which they can exert a certain degree of control. Therefore, complexity, predictability and control are three concepts to bear in mind when applying an environmental enrichment strategy.

2.2 *Complexity, control, predictability*

Unless used in breeding colonies, for laboratory animals the only "option" in their life often is to be subjects in experiments. They are bred for this purpose, in many cases, their life ends with the termination of the experiment. So, what seems to be absent (or seriously compromised) in the life of the animals used for experimentation is the capacity to "control" their life. Complex animals, such as mammals, exercise their cognitive capacities operating behavioural choices based on their previous experience in a similar context, and based on a somehow limited ability to predict the consequences of an action (see Tomasello & Call 1997). Control and choice, when providing environmental enrichment, should be two key concepts. The animal should be given the possibility to control some features of its environment, and to choose which feature to exploit at a particular time.

With respect to control, Snowdon and Savage (1989) have rightly stated that: "animals cannot passively receive environmental events; they must be able to act on the environment and consequences must result from their actions". The possibility to control features of the environment can have a positive effect on the welfare of animals in the long term. For example, studies on macaques demonstrated that individuals who had control on their feeding schedules, showed less fear of novel objects in subsequent tests. It must also pointed out that sometimes loss of control can be even more stressful than never having control in the first place (Hanson *et al.* 1976).

However, a balance must be found between control and lack of control (Sambrook & Buchanan-Smith 1997). These two authors argued that there is an optimum degree of predictability of events: that total predictability may result in behavioural frustration and boredom whilst complete unpredictability results in stress. The same view was supported by the observation that an apparatus responsive to manipulation was more attractive than an apparatus that would not respond (Markowitz & Line 1989). Again, for example, Chamove (1989) has shown that captive chimpanzees favoured objects that responded with a certain degree of unpredictability, over inanimate objects.

We could think of some steps concerning the introduction of environmental enrichment and its relationship with the well-being of an animal:

- 1) The researcher must familiarise himself with the natural history of the species in question;
- 2) In relation to the information gathered, an appropriate social stimulation or an object is introduced;
- 3) This new level of complexity gives the animal the possibility to increase the choice of selecting a behaviour in its repertoire, this could already represent an increase in the level of welfare;
- 4) by adding a possibility of control on the frequency and way of use of the introduced enrichment, we could further increase the level of welfare.

2.3 Harmonisation of different features

The ideal captive environment for an animal should try to harmonise, with the help of environmental enrichment, different features. Having said this, some priorities need to be made. Generally speaking, mammals are social animals, and sociality is a fundamental component of their biological being, i.e. social housing should be considered the default condition and a priority. Especially in the case of non-human primates, no methods of enrichment has proven to be more effective than the presence of preferred conspecifics. Sociality can also help animals to better adjust to stressful laboratory events such as moving from a cage to another (Smith *et al.* 1998). The concept of control applies also to social enrichment. Although social housing of primates is extremely beneficial it should be noted

that negative interactions are part of social relationships. Therefore, the cage must be arranged in a way that a subordinate individual can hide or escape from a dominant one, when this necessity arises. Space, visual and physical barriers must be provided, and these features help to better regulate the social life of an individual in captivity (Reinhardt & Reinhardt 2000, Bloomsmith *et al.* 2001). Different individuals can then have some degree of control over their social life. In territorial rodents, for example, the housing style should be "strain" and "sex" specific (Alleva 1993). A shelter should be provided in cages housing mice groups, to allow those subjects which are repeatedly attacked to protect themselves. Female mice show aggressive behaviour only during pregnancy and lactation to protect their pups (Ostermeyer 1983). If females with offspring cohabit with males, nest-defence should be favoured by presenting the cage with a protected nest.

The effects of social relationships must also be taken into consideration when providing physical enrichments. For example, shelters and objects can be used differently by individuals of different social position (e.g. Galef & Sorge 2000), or feeding enrichments can be monopolized by dominant individuals, such as in chimpanzees (Bloomstrand *et al.* 1986), or in rodents (Howard 2002).

If animals have to be housed individually, for example for particular experimental purposes, it is important to provide at least some forms of indirect sociality. For example, the possibility to observe other singly-housed individuals can be beneficial (Brinkman 1996).

In most enrichment studies physical and social enrichments are used at the same time, so it is difficult to disentangle the exact contribution of each component determining a specific outcome. For example, in a study on CD-1 mice social or physical enrichment during periadolescence exerts distinct long-term effects on behavioural responses (Pietropaolo *et al.* 2004). In particular, subjects exposed to a physically-enriched environment showed decreased explorative activity, reduced interactions with unfamiliar objects and low level of aggressiveness. Social enrichment did not affect exploratory behaviour, but appeared sufficient to modify the quality of the agonistic response. Mice kept in groups during adolescence showed a more affiliative and less aggressive social interaction strategy, suggesting that social experiences at critical developmental stages are more relevant than physical complexity for the development of adequate strategies to deal with social challenges. Finally, enriching environments with physical, social and sensory stimuli are now established to be beneficial to brain development and ageing (e.g. Meaney *et al.* 1992, Cotman & Berchtold 2002), and has also led to ideas for new approaches to ameliorate disease states (Clausing *et al.* 2000, Hockly 2002).

3. Principles of the evaluation of environmental enrichment

It is fundamental to good husbandry that laboratory environments should meet the needs of the animals housed within them and enrichment to standard laboratory cages or environments is usually needed to achieve this. Animals housed in unenriched laboratory animal housing often develop abnormal behaviour, such as stereotypies, excessive aggression or self-injurious behaviour and these are usually signs that the housing is not meeting the animals' needs. Housing enrichment has become an integral part of laboratory animal care and there is a growing body of evidence on a variety of species demonstrating the beneficial effects of various types of enrichment (eg, Olsson & Dahlborn 2002 Bayne *et al.* 2002, Garner *et al.* 2003, Patterson-Kane 2004, Sørensen *et al.* 2004, see also Reinhardt's Laboratory Animal Database

<u>http://www.animalwelfare.com/lab_animals/biblio/refine.htm</u> and the background information collected for the draft revision of Appendix A to Council of Europe Convention

ETS 123

(http://www.coe.int/T/E/Legal affairs/Legal cooperation/Biological safety, use of animal s/Laboratory_animals/draft%20revision%20of%2 0Appendix%20A.asp#TopOfPage). However, not all so-called enrichments or changes to husbandry achieve their aim of benefiting the animals. Ideally, enrichment devices or protocols should be validated to show that they are beneficial to the animals, that they have no unexpected adverse effects on them, and that the enrichment does not jeopardize experimental outcomes (see Section 4 Validity and Variability). This last is important, not only because of the potential damage to the research, but also because animals might be wasted in experiments that have little or no value. Doing nothing, however, is not an option as environments that do not meet the animals' needs can also jeopardise experimental results (eg Poole 1997, Sherwin 2004a).

Studies on enrichment can broadly be divided into those carried out by scientists with a research interest in the area of animal welfare or in the area of neuroscience, the latter using enrichment as a tool e.g. in order to induce changes in the brain, and those carried out adhoc by animal care staff with the aim of validating a particular enrichment idea or regimen. While the latter can be of value, animal care staff are not trained in welfare research, and may lack the ability or time to carry out well designed studies. Ideally, hypotheses about potential enrichment should be tested by scientists qualified in the area such as applied ethologists. This is because the assessment of welfare and enrichment techniques is often not a simple process. Those involved in welfare assessment need to have an understanding of behaviour and physiology and relevant neurobiological studies on enrichment.

The process of developing an environmental enrichment regime should begin with a thorough understanding of species-specific behaviour and hypotheses regarding likely enrichment should be based on this. Scientists developing enrichment techniques often begin by studying the behaviour of the animals in different types of environment which may differ somewhat from the standard laboratory enclosure. Preferences by the animal for particular features are then used to derive hypotheses that are then further tested and refined before being validated for effectiveness and practicality in the standard laboratory setting. Preference tests by themselves do not, however, inform us about the basis of a preference. For example, they may be constrained by evolutionary factors, they may measure the animal's desire to minimise deprivation, maximise pleasure or to monitor an unwanted problem. Moreover, some choices made by the animal can actually be bad for its welfare for example, marshmallow sweets are highly motivating for marmosets and yet in excess could cause dental caries or obesity. Once a preference for a resource has been demonstrated, the extent of the animal's motivation for that resource can be assessed using techniques such as consumer demand studies that measure the elasticity of demand for a particular resource (eg Dawkins 1983, Sherwin & Nicol 1995, Van de Weerd et al. 1995, Sherwin 1998). Measures and experimental design are critical for the validity of these tests, (see eg Mason et al. 1998 and subsequent commentaries pp 10761083 ibid, Ladewig et al. 2002).

The effect of environmental enrichment on animal welfare can be assessed using a variety of different measures. Often behaviour in an enriched cage is compared with baseline measures of behaviour in the home cage. But it is important to assess whether changes in behaviour are short or long-term effects (see for example Van de Weerd and Baumans 1995). Other measures of the effects of enrichment on the welfare of the animal include behavioural tests such as open field, hole board or elevated plus mazes to measure affective

state. As previously described, information from preference tests and other experiments may be used to measure the strength of motivation for an enrichment option. Physiological measures of welfare include measures of hormones (eg corticosteroids, catecholamines) heart rate, blood pressure, immune function (eg lymphocyte/neutrophil ratio), body condition, reproduction, post mortem parameters, (eg adrenal weight, ulcers etc) (Baumans *et al.* 1994). Whatever methods or measures are used, expertise is needed to interpret the results in terms of animal welfare. The assessment of welfare is often not straightforward (eg stereotypies can persist as a "behavioural scar" (Mason 1991b), and are thus not always a good indicator of current welfare (Mason & Latham 2004)) and the results of welfare studies can be dependent on the welfare measure used, strain, sex, age, social status and interactions with housing (Mason & Mendl 1993). Animal welfare studies are often complex, involving different measures and methods so that interpretation can be problematic (eg Warburton & Nicol 2001, Warburton & Mason 2003). For these reasons animal welfare studies are often best carried out by specialists in the area.

Concerns are sometimes expressed by researchers that enrichment may affect their experimental results (see section 4 Validity and Variability). These concerns should be addressed because if they are valid, animals, time and money may all be wasted. The likely impact of enrichment on experimental results depends on the type of enrichment used, the parameter studied, and strain of the animal (Van de Weerd et al., 2002). Any assessment of the possible effects of enrichment on experimental outcome should also take into account the possible impact of an unenriched environment on experimental results. It should be remembered that enrichment of laboratory environments is now well established, that there are many instances of enrichment being successfully used in parallel with scientific research, and therefore objections to enrichment should be critically assessed to ensure that they are based on valid reasons. If there are reasonable concerns that a particular enrichment might influence the outcome of an experiment then ideally studies should be carried out to determine whether an effect truly exists or consideration should be given to a different type of enrichment. It is often possible to deduce on the basis of existing evidence whether a particular enrichment will have an effect on a particular experimental outcome. For this reason enrichment items with certificates of analysis, or if they are food items of human food standard may be used even within the regulatory toxicology environment (Dean 1999).

Practical development of enrichment for animals used in research

Many establishments make some attempt to validate new enrichment ideas, however, in practice it is usually far too time consuming and expensive to evaluate all enrichment variants in the context of different species, strains, husbandry systems and experimental protocols. Indeed, in many cases it may not be necessary as a new enrichment idea is often a variation on an existing theme, eg a foraging device for primates. In such circumstances a full validation of the animals' need for the type of enrichment is not required as there is abundant evidence indicating that foraging devices can be useful. So in these cases an adhoc assessment by local animal care staff can be sufficient to indicate that the device has no practical problems. Even this might not be necessary if the "new" enrichment has been used successfully in similar studies by others.

If formal studies are not carried out, new enrichments should be assessed at the design stage with respect to the likely benefit to the animals and the likelihood of their influencing experimental results. For example, a foraging device might be incompatible with a nutritional study but might be acceptable in a study on neurophysiology. If the item is truly new and has not been used elsewhere, preliminary data within a sample of the animals should be collected to show that the animals make use of it and that the device does not pose a danger to the animals or adversely affect the animals, for example, by increasing aggression. Data on use might be collected very simply by recording the consumption of forage material. Casual or subjective observations during normal husbandry on use and incidence of abnormal behaviour can also be useful as long as their limitations are recognised. Young (2003) also suggests that each institution should maintain an environmental enrichment book describing the types of enrichment used by that institution. Such a book could include headings such as device, species, purpose, etc. When evaluating any new enrichment it is important to remember that factors such as species, strain, sex, age and social rank can all be important. For example nesting material is generally accepted to be a useful addition for mice, but as nude mice lack eyelashes sawdust can irritate the eyes of this strain.

For the development of an enrichment program and the assessment of new enrichment ideas the following figures may be helpful as guidance.

Figure 1: Flow diagram for developing an enrichment program

Understand species needs

Literature search for existing enrichment recommendations for a species Critically assess likely impact of enrichment (or its

absence) on experimental outcomes or variability

Choose enrichment program taking into account social and environmental factors

Figure 2: Decision tree for assessment of new enrichment ideas



4. Validity and variability

It is usually the experimenter's aim to reduce variation to a minimum, but inter-individual variation is a fundamental biological property which arises through genetic variation and as a result of differing environmental experiences. Genetic variation can be minimised by choosing to use inbred strains where these are both available and appropriate, whilst environmental causes of variation can be minimised by standardising laboratory environments. However, variation can never be completely eliminated and even before birth, environmental influences can be important factors. For example, the position of pig foetuses in the uterine horns results in different growth rates (Hartsock *et al.* 1976), and these differences are subsequently amplified when the largest littermate monopolises the most productive teat (Hartsock *et al.* 1976). Similarly, in mice the numbers of adjacent foetuses of the same or different gender affects adult sexual and aggressive behaviour (Vom Saal 1989).

Codes of practice for the housing and husbandry of laboratory animals such as Annex 1 of the European Directive 86/609 or National Codes of Practice exist for two purposes: First, for animal welfare reasons to ensure that at least minimum standards of housing and husbandry are maintained; Second, to help standardise conditions between laboratories so as to improve replicability. The directive 86/609 requires that any restriction on the extent to which an animal can satisfy its physiological and ethological needs shall be limited to a minimum, but there is growing evidence that unenriched minimum conditions as laid down in the Directive are not always adequate to meet animals needs. One line of evidence for this is the fact that in standard unenriched housing conditions animals often develop behavioural abnormalities such as stereotypies (eg Larsson *et al.* 2002, Powell *et al.* 1999, Bourgeon *et al.* 2004). Stereotypies are invariant, repetitive and apparently purposeless motor activity (rhesus monkey: Paulk *et al.* 1977, chimpanzee: Berkson *et al.* 1963, mice: Baumgardner *et al.* 1980), and they have been correlated with an alteration of brain function (Garner *et al.,* 2003). It is clear that conditions leading to fundamental changes such as these may increase variation and act as a source of bias on experimental results.

4.1 Enrichment and Variability

As enrichment is designed to improve welfare it is not surprising that it has effects on the animals' physiology and behaviour and therefore in some circumstances that it could affect experimental outcomes. For example, enriched animals may habituate faster, perform better, and possess improved motor coordination (rat: Larsson et al. 2002, mice: Caston et al. 1999). In mice, anxiety and stress responses are attenuated by enrichment whereas the immunity reaction is increased (Benaroya-Milshtein et al. 2004). There have been a number of studies evaluating the effect of enrichment on variability but, as yet, the results are inconclusive, showing that enrichment either increases variation, reduces variation or has no effect. The differences probably being due to the different variables measured. However, variability is not the only factor affecting statistical power of group comparisons. When the consequences of enrichment are assessed, one should look at variability and the extent of mean differences. For instance, the loss of statistical power caused by an enrichmentinduced increase of variability could be re-gained, when the experimental effect is more pronounced under enriched conditions. This could occur when baseline values under enriched conditions are "better" - e.g. lower in a study where an increase of the measured values is expected.

4.2 Enrichment and Experimental Bias

When animals are exposed to an enriched environment there may be transient changes such as an increase in corticoid levels and aggressive behavior (Marashi *et al.* 2003). Other changes over a longer period may also occur. For example, functional and behavioral adaptation to the more extensive and varied stimulation can result in multiple morphological changes in the recipient brain structures and a modulation of the genomic expression of receptors in the hippocampus (Bredy *et al.* 2004). Enrichment has been shown to promote neurogenesis and to protect against CNS insults (reviewed in Lewis 2004). The extent and the complexity of the changes wrought by enrichment when compared with unenriched environments may give cause for concern. However, as animals, and indeed humans, in a natural environment are exposed to much more complicated and stimulating environments than a standard unenriched laboratory cage, it can be argued that enrichment results in a more normal animal and in many cases in better science.

Enrichment should be designed with the species' needs in mind taking into account strain, age (pups or senescent animal) and health of the animals including sensorimotor capability and the history of the animal. The choice of enrichment strategy should also take into account the fact that different enrichments have different stimulatory effects on different nervous pathways. For example, social or inanimate environmental stimuli activate dissociable neural pathways (Laviola *et al.* 2004), whilst the movements of the whole visual environment or of a small target activate retinopretectal and retinofugal pathways respectively (Reber *et al.* 1991).

The natural environment provides a wide range of stimulation to the brain and so the captive environment should provide a similar range of stimulation. This is particularly important during ontogenesis when there is a risk that concentrating on one form of enrichment might result in differential development of the brain. For example, the primary somatosensory cortex is especially developed in rats reared in an enriched environment (Coq & Xerri 1998). Similarly, if only running wheels are provided there is a risk that there could be preferential changes in the visual and vestibular systems, as these are extremely adaptable (Berthoz *et al.* 1981, Keller & Precht 1981).

In summary, enrichment during development and during the study should be both standardized, and designed to stimulate a wide range of natural behaviours, so to reduce the two risks of bias and increased variation. However, variation is intrinsic to all animals and cannot be totally eliminated by standard housing conditions. The likely effects of enrichment on experimental outcomes always needs to be considered but, in most cases, animals raised and kept in well designed laboratory housing with a range of enrichments are likely to be more normal animals and better experimental subjects with somatosensory systems and cognitive capabilities that have not been stunted by inadequate housing.

5. Species related types of environmental enrichment

Environmental enrichment should not be a process of randomly applying objects which we consider attractive for the animals, but it should be a well designed and critically evaluated

programme in terms of use by and benefit for the animals and impact on experimental procedures and data (see Section 4.). Various categories of enrichment can be identified (Van de Weerd & Baumans 1995, Young 2003):

5.1. *Social enrichment*, which can be divided in contact and in non-contact with either conspecifics and/ or other species, including humans.

5.1.1 Social contact enrichment. Gregarious species should be group or pair housed with conspecifics. However, the group composition should be stable and harmonious (Love 1994, Morton et al. 1993, Stauffacher 1997; Turner et al. 1997), and visual barriers or hiding places may be necessary to minimise aggression, especially in males (Stauffacher 2000, Van de Weerd & Baumans 1995, Van Loo et al. 2002). Even in harmonious groups, it is necessary to allow individuals to initiate contact by approach, or avoid contact by withdrawal out of sight. For animals living socially, a social partner is the most challenging enrichment factor. Whereas enrichment objects are static and of interest for specific activities only, a social partner always creates new and unpredictable situations to which the animal must react. A social partner leads to an increase of alertness and exploratory behaviour and it provides diversion, occupation and probably also some feelings of "security" in stable harmonious groups (Stauffacher 2000). Procedure induced stress like responses are less frequent and of shorter duration in group-housed rats than in those housed singly (Sharp et al. 2002, 2003). In 1997, the Multilateral Consultation of the Council of Europe adopted a resolution on the accommodation and care of laboratory animals, which specified that "group housing, even pair housing, is preferable to individual housing for all gregarious species normally manifesting social behaviour, as long as the groups are stable and harmonious."

The Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources (ILAR), 1996, states: "Animals should be housed with a goal of maximizing species-specific behaviours and minimizing stress-induced behaviours. For social species, this normally requires housing in compatible pairs or groups."

Contact with humans, such as handling, training and socialising, will usually benefit both the animals and the outcome of experiments as it engages the animal on a cognitive level and allows positive interaction with animal caretakers, technicians and scientists (Baumans 2004, Shepherdson 1998, Van de Weerd & Baumans 1995).

5.1.2 *Social non-contact enrichment* includes visual, auditory and olfactory communication with conspecifics or contraspecifics, e.g. through bars or mesh. The Council of Europe's Resolution (1997) on the accommodation and care of laboratory animals states that when group housing is not possible, " consideration should be given to accommodating conspecifics within sight, sound or smell of one another".

5.2 *Physical enrichment*, including complexity of the enclosure, sensory and nutritional stimuli.

5.2.1 *Complexity*. Usually appropriate structuring of the cage/pen environment is more beneficial than provision of a larger floor area; however a minimum floor area is needed to provide a structured space. Minimum floor areas are indicated in Appendix A of the European Convention on the accommodation and care of animals used for experimental purposes. Except for locomotor activity, such as playing, animals do not use space *per se*; they use resources and structures within an area for specific behaviours. Most rodents and

rabbits attempt to divide their living space into separate areas for feeding, resting and excretion. Structures within the cage may facilitate these divisions such as shelters, nest boxes, nesting material, tubes, and platforms providing withdrawal areas and look out possibilities and allow the animals to control their environment, including light levels (Baumans 1997, 1999, Blom 1993, Manser 1998, Sherwin 1997, Stauffacher 1997, Townsend 1997). Providing nesting material has been shown to enhance breeding results in mice and rats. It can lead to a reduction in pre-weaning mortality, so a higher number of pups survive (Porter & Lane-Petter 1965, Nolen & Alexander 1966, Norris & Adams 1976). But not only breeding animals use nesting material. It was shown that laboratory mice will readily use nesting material by performing nest building behaviour (Van de Weerd et al. 1997a; Van de Weerd et al. 1998) and spent 10-20% of their time-budget on manipulating nesting material (Van de Weerd et al. 1997b). Toys can have a beneficial effect on the animals in developing exploratory behaviour, locomotor and visual performance. One of the reasons for animal play is that the animal can practice the behavioural skills, needed for survival (Young 2003). However, toys have a limited period of time that they are attractive, typically one day (Young 2003). A certain level of exploration can be maintained by changing or rotating toys.

5.2.2 *Sensory enrichment*, including visual, auditory, olfactory, tactile and taste stimuli. Visual, auditory, olfactory and tactile communication with conspecifics or contraspecifics either direct or through bars might be the most satisfying enrichment for rodents and rabbits. Mirrors provided in mouse cages did not seem to be an enrichment item, such as in primates (Sherwin 2004b).

It has been suggested that a constant background noise, such as radio music has some benefits in facilitating breeding and making animals less excited by reducing the startle effect of sudden noises. Behavioural results suggest that new age music has an overall calming effect on mice, compared to classical, pop or no music. However, mice still showed a disturbance reaction (freeze, flight) during exposure to loud noise, irrespective of background music (Van Loo *et al.* 2004). However radios in animal facilities may benefit the animal staff, which could have beneficial consequences for the animals in turn (Sherwin 2002, Van Loo *et al.* 2004). Cage cleaning is a necessary routine procedure in laboratory animal facilities. However, removal of the olfactory cues disturbs the social hierarchy of the animals in the cage, often resulting in a peak in aggression among male mice. It has been shown that olfactory cues from nesting and bedding material affect aggression in a different way: transfer of nesting material reduces aggression, whereas sawdust containing urine/faeces intensifies aggression (Hurst *et al.*

1994; Van Loo et al. 2000).

Providing the animals with different food items such as carrots and seeds for rabbits and rodents, respectively may act as taste stimuli (see Nutritional enrichment). Tactile stimulation can be achieved by providing e.g. nesting material, shelter and the possibility to dig.

5.2.3 *Nutritional enrichment*. Animals tend to be highly motivated to make use of enrichment based on food items. Frequency and schedule have an impact on the animal. Krohn *et al.* (1999) showed that feeding rabbits just before dark, in their active period, instead of in the morning, reduced stereotypic behaviour remarkably. Presentation of food, giving the animal the opportunity to forage, e.g. food scattered in the bedding, will prevent boredom as in nature a large part of the time-budget is spent on this activity. Animals will

preferentially search for food even when it is readily available as this gives information about the location and quality of potential foraging sites (Mench 1998). Additional food items such as hay, straw or grass cubes can satisfy the need for roughage and for chewing in guinea pigs and rabbits (Baumans 1997). Soft wood sticks are used for gnawing in rodents and rabbits. Rats gnaw on aspen blocks, especially when housed without bedding (Eskola *et al.* 1999, Kaliste-Korhonen *et al.* 1995). Hamsters (Niethammer 1988) and gerbils (Brain 1999) routinely store food and should be provided with food pellets inside the cage. Primates frequently receive a varied diet to improve the interest value. When toys are related to food such as balls containing food pellets or puzzle feeders for primates, they will keep their attraction longer.

5.3 *Species related EE programs.* In this part some examples of species related EE are given. More information can be found in the literature (see Morton *et al.* 1993; Jennings *et al.* 1998, Olsson & Dahlborn 2002, Reinhardt & Reinhardt 2002, 2004, Young 2003). Suitable enrichment for *rabbits* includes at least roughage, hay blocks or chew sticks as well as an area for withdrawal and look out such as a platform. For breeding does, nesting material and a nest box or another refuge should be provided. In floor pens for group housing visual barriers should be provided.

Nesting material is important for *rats, mice, hamsters and gerbils* as it enables them to create appropriate microenvironments for resting and breeding. Nest boxes or other refuges should be provided for guinea pigs and rats. *Guinea pigs* are cursorial rodents which do not burrow, but which in the wild may live in burrows made by other animals. Refuges such as tubes or shelters should be provided within the cage or pen to allow the animal to climb onto or hide under them. Hay will satisfy the need for roughage and wood sticks for chewing and gnawing can be used. In the wild, *gerbils* build extensive tunnel systems, and in the laboratory they often develop stereotypic digging behaviour unless provided with adequate facilities. For this reason gerbils need comparatively more space in order to allow them to build or use burrows of sufficient size and they require a thick layer of litter for digging and nesting and/or a burrow substitute, which may need to be up to 20 cm long. Nesting material (hay, straw, etc.) and wood sticks can be used for chewing and gnawing. The wild ancestors of the *hamster* were largely solitary. Group housing is possible but special care should be taken in forming socially harmonious groups and aggressive animals, especially females, should be separated.

Minimum enrichment should include nesting material, refuge area (e.g. tube, hut), roughage and gnawing objects.

In general, complexity will allow all animal species to structure their environment. For all gregarious species social housing should be provided and should only be denied in exceptional cases.

Being part of a compatible group provides a sense of security for the vast majority of *nonhuman primates*. It also provides opportunities for a whole range of species-specific social activities such as grooming, embracing, huddling, patting and kissing Singly housed primates are particularly prone to show abnormal behaviour, whereas keeping them in groups reduces the incidence of this behaviour (Reinhardt 2002).

For most species, the best way to produce behaviourally and physiologically normal monkeys, suitable for breeding and long term study, is to ensure, wherever practicable, that they remain in the natal group for as long as possible. Juveniles separated from their mothers for whatever reason should be reared in social, preferably well organised groups. Primates should be housed in enriched environments, which allow them to carry out a normal behavioural repertoire, showing species-typical, complete and well-balanced behaviour. Enclosures for primates should enable them to fully utilise the vertical dimension (see Poole 1998, Rose 1994; Reinhardt *et al.* 1996, Reinhardt 2002).

A complex environment, which includes swings, perches and branches, allows the animals to display a wide locomotor repertoire. Captive rhesus macaques were observed to walk, gallop, leap, climb, swim and hang from climbing structures. Long tailed macaques, rhesus monkeys and vervets are good swimmers, thus providing the opportunity to swim might be useful. Leaping is a common mode of locomotion for arboreal species, such as callitrichids, squirrel monkeys and long tailed macaques.

Although puzzle feeders and foraging boxes are more effective in reducing stereotypic behaviour and increasing activity in rhesus monkeys, watching videos and manipulating video game joysticks, can also be beneficial (Platt & Novak 1997). Marmosets should have wooden perches, which they can mark and scent-mark, and a refuge for sleeping. Mirrors might be useful to allow viewing events outside their cages.

Whenever possible, *pigs and minipigs* should be purchased in groups already formed of familiar or socially compatible animals. Commission Directive 91/630/EEC specifies that pigs must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of material to enable proper investigation and manipulation activities such as rooting. It identifies suitable substrates as including straw, hay, wood, sawdust, mushroom compost and peat. Hay is the supplement of choice for minipigs, as it prevents gastric mucosal hyperkeratosis (Svendsen, unpublished data) in addition to providing environmental enrichment. Food balls will be used for play and foraging.

Dogs should be held in socially harmonious groups or in pairs.

Dog treats and toys afford welfare benefits to the animals, providing these are used sensibly and adequately monitored. As chewing is an important behaviour, items should be provided which meet this need. Dogs will make extensive use of items, particularly if they are foodflavoured. Proper presentation, for example by suspending chews a few centimetres from the floor of the pen on a spring, can help to minimise cleaning and possessive aggression problems whilst also allowing the animals to chew in a species-specific manner. Dogs extensively use a platform to play and rest on and to allow easy viewing of events outside their enclosures (Hubrecht 1993, 1995).

6. Points to consider when implementing environmental enrichment programmes

At this point it is taken for granted that an enrichment programme has been evaluated before implementation (see Section 3) and therefore, is serving its purpose by effectively contributing to animal welfare. However, besides this there are other points to consider which will be addressed in the following paragraphs.

6.1 Interaction with the experiment

Before establishing environmental enrichment programmes, careful assessment is necessary concerning possible impacts on the experimental outcome and the comparability of the results

with previous (and future) studies. This is especially significant when historical data are used to validate current results. However, the assessment prior to introducing an enrichment program should also include an evaluation whether it is really necessary to continue with certain experimental procedures when they are in conflict with enrichment-related improvements of animal welfare.

Of course, it is not advisable to introduce new enrichment procedures during an ongoing study. Standardizing the enrichment plan for an established group of animals, prior to the initiation of the study is the least thing to do to mitigate the confounding effects of enrichment (Stewart & Bayne, 2004).

Group housing and foraging to obtain food (using special devices) are two widely accepted enrichment procedures. In both cases, measurement of food consumption may become less accurate or even compromised. In addition, it is likely that growth curves and certain metabolic parameters are affected, and hormone data which may shift to a different base level. Therefore, the introduction of an enrichment program needs to be carefully planned. Nevertheless it is not acceptable to neglect the improvement of animal welfare by environmental enrichment just because this might create a one time-shift in background data.

Many toxicologists consider the measurement of food intake as indispensable. But it has been questioned whether this parameter is necessary under all circumstances, particularly when food is provided in restricted amounts (as often for dogs and minipigs) and body weight, a closely correlated parameter, is recorded simultaneously (Dean, 1999). In other cases, e.g. when the test substance is incorporated into the food and the achieved dose has to be calculated using food consumption data, such data will be absolutely essential.

Traditionally, certain experimental situations such as telemetry studies or animals carrying catheters or brain electrodes are considered incompatible with group housing. However, it has been demonstrated that group housing is possible under such conditions, when the necessary precautions are taken or suitable techniques are used (cf. Coelho & Carey, 1990; Schaefer & Michael, 1991; Hawkins *et al.* 2004).

Once environmental enrichment becomes standardized within an animal facility and codified as an established component of the daily care of the animals, concerns regarding the impact of that enrichment procedure on scientific results are alleviated (Stewart & Bayne, 2004).

6.2 Practical considerations for staff of implementing enrichment

The introduction of environmental enrichment in an animal facility can create more workload and thus may require more personnel. However, animal caretakers and biotechnicians typically are highly motivated to improve animal welfare. Thus, staff is often willing to put extra efforts into implementing and running an enrichment programme which then results in the satisfaction from the improved animal welfare standards obtained.

An increased workload can occur for two reasons. First, additional time is needed to provide, remove and clean enrichment devices. Some of the enrichment objects have to be changed or re-introduced frequently, others are more permanently implemented and therefore may consume less time once they are installed. Second, extra time may be needed for animal handling either as part of the enrichment procedure *per se* (e.g. dog socialisation) or because animals use the opportunity to hide in a more structured cage environment. However, results

indicate that environmental enrichment in the form of shelter (e.g. pipes) does not complicate catching or handling of mice, and providing enrichment does not interfere with the management or cost of laboratory animals (Moons *et al.*, 2004).

Finally, it should be taken into consideration that enrichment has also the potential to save time, e.g. because the animals may be less timid and, therefore may be more easy to handle.

6.3 Occupational health and safety aspects

Prevention of injuries and elimination of occupational hazards is always an important issue for laboratory animal facilities. Therefore, reasonable precautions should be taken to ensure that enrichment strategies and devices are safe for personnel. Environmental enrichment programs in general do not require more precautions than those normally in place in laboratory animal facilities. No occupational health recommendations particularly related to enrichment were found in the literature. Sharp or cutting edges should, of course, be avoided (e.g. cage dividers and other metal devices), and just as normal bedding, nesting material should, as far as possible, be dust-free to diminish the risk of allergy or infection by airborn microorganisms. Enrichment can involve more frequent lifting of heavier objects (e.g. larger structured cages) which may pose an ergonomic problem and could induce back injuries. This can be prevented by constructing enrichment objects either on a "module" basis or in a way that they can easily be disassembled. In any event, appropriate training of the personnel and careful implementation of the enrichment programs is the best solution to these problems.

6.4 Financial aspects

Financial aspects of environmental enrichment are twofold: Funds for environmental enrichment-related research and financial resources to implement and conduct enrichment programmes *per se*.

The 3R-principles are part of the European animal welfare policy and of the AAALAC accreditation process. Introducing environmental enrichment in the care and husbandry program of animal facilities is an important way of refining experimentation so as to reduce unnecessary suffering. Therefore, European and national institutions, private foundations and animal welfare charities should feel encouraged to promote quality enrichment programmes by offering more grants for peer-reviewed enrichment-related research. An example is given by the Centre for the 3Rs in the UK. In the light of research results that contribute to proper and effective implementation of enrichment-based welfare improvement, the importance of supporting such investigations can hardly be overestimated.

Implementation and conduct of valid environmental enrichment programs needs funding too. This has to be budgeted and allocated with due regard to scientific merits, ethics and animal welfare legislation. Cost saving tips for environmental enrichment programs (Stewart & Bayne, 2004) can reduce the financial burden at least outside an GLP-environment. This includes the use of commonly available materials, such as plastic pipes, which can be cut to a length fitting to their use as shelters for a variety of species. Small pipette-tip boxes can be easily cut open, autoclaved and used as shelters for mice. Implementation of environmental enrichment does not necessarily translate into undue financial burden, although the costs of the devices are not only determined by the initial purchase-price, but also by the frequency of replacement due to damage, consumption or soiling.

6.5 Good laboratory practice (GLP) aspects

Although GLP is a clearly defined area within pre-clinical research and development (pharmaceuticals) and pre-marketing safety assessments (pesticides, chemicals), the large number of animals used in this field as required by law makes it an important area for animal welfare considerations.

It should be kept in mind that GLP is not about what to do (this is determined by science), but how to do it. This means that animal studies conducted under GLP have to be thoroughly described – either in standard operating procedures (SOPs) or in the study protocol – and materials, equipment and animals used in such studies have to be certified/specified and/or validated. From this it becomes clear that GLP does not prohibit enrichment. But it sets the stage for certain conditions under which environmental enrichment is to be implemented in this type of studies.

In essence, the GLP-aspects of environmental enrichment are not complicated and can be categorized into procedural and material elements. With regard to the procedural elements, enrichment procedures

- (a) should be validated concerning their impact on the outcome of the study, either by a separate validation study or based on sufficient evidence from published enrichmentresearch;
- (b) should either be standardized and always carried out in the same way (hence SOPs) or thoroughly described in the study protocol.

With regard to the material elements of environmental enrichment – as with other materials used in GLP-regulated studies (diet, bedding, water, disinfectants etc.), enrichment materials and devices have to be certified and/or specified to make sure that they do not interfere with the desired outcome of the study (e.g. determination of the no-observed-adverse effect level of the compound under study). This means, within defined ranges, enrichment materials have always to be of the same composition and free of hazardous components (i.e. known possible contaminants have to be below specified limits etc.). It is desirable, although not an unconditional prerequisite that this is substantiated by Certificates of Analysis for the given batch of material used. Under such conditions environmental enrichment and GLP are compatible without problems.

Under certain conditions it is even possible to leave the strictly regulated territory of GLP in GLP-regulated studies. This, however, has to be carefully considered and agreed upon with the authorities on a case-by-case basis. One example is the use of hay for minipigs. Hay is an important nutritive enrichment component for this species, and, although it is practically impossible to have a "batch"-specification for hay, its use is widely accepted by regulatory authorities base on the assurance that no pesticides or fecal slurry were used on the meadows where the hay came from.

6.6 Training of staff and communication with researchers

Good interaction between the staff of the animal facility and the researchers are very important, because - understandably - researchers are concerned about any changes or additional variables of their study protocols (Gärtner, 1998). It is the combination of the progressive investigator and animal care staff to prove to other investigators that

animalfriendly changes will have no disadvantage for the outcome of their studies (Dean, 1999).

An important issue is the training of the personnel involved in environmental enrichment. This includes the staff of animal caretakers, biotechnicians and investigators. Every educational program on laboratory animal science should include reference to environmental enrichment. It seems to be a neglected issue to translate results of enrichment-research into textbook-knowledge.

6.7 Unwanted side effects of enrichment on animal welfare

The possible adverse consequences to an enrichment programme should be fully explored. This can be done for example by literature-search or consultation of competent persons, e.g. veterinarians or ethologists (Poole, 1998, see also Section 3). This is particular true for the introduction of new, innovative enrichment devices in the daily care of laboratory animals.

For instance, creating passageways may often be useful but under certain circumstances they may increase territorial and aggressive behaviour, for instance in DBA/2J and CBA/J mice (Haemisch & Gaertner 1994). Following up on this, more recent research provided knowledge how to control aggressive behaviour in group-housed male mice using environmental enrichment as a tool (Van Loo *et al.* 2003). This is an excellent example how enrichmentresearch translates into science-based welfare improvements for laboratory animals.

Attention should be given to the possibility that the objects may cause competition for coming into their possession. This applies especially for dogs and primates. Care must be taken that this does not increase aggression. By providing enrichment items as hanging objects facilitates floor cleaning and helps to avoid that things are monopolised by individual animals. In addition, this minimises the risk of swallowing (e.g. by dogs), and thus causing gastrointestinal complications. Such precautionary measures make this type of complications a highly unlikely event, so that the welfare benefits of enrichment heavily outweigh this potential risk.

Another issue is the inadvertent exposure to substances present in enrichment devices, possibly leading to interferences with the experimental result. This should be kept in mind when selecting the materials for enrichment. It can be concluded that proven suitability of enrichment devices is always important, not only for GLP-regulated studies.

6.8 *Observability of the animals*

When using nesting-material or offering refuge for the animals, observing the animals is less easy. However, the proven welfare-benefits of this type of enrichment outbalance the additional time that has to be spent to observe the animals in experimentation and during the normal check-up in breeding programs.

6.9 Sudden changes of environmental enrichment when animals are transferred

Laboratory animals come from breeding colonies and will be used for different kinds of research (behavioural studies, toxicology, metabolic research etc.) each with specific requirements or limitations concerning animal husbandry and care. Besides special requirements, general housing practice can just differ between breeding stock and experimental units which raises concerns about welfare impacts of changed or abandoned enrichment programs. Such concerns have been repeatedly voiced, but up to date they seem to be insufficiently addressed in enrichment-research.

Complete information about housing conditions and the "environmental enrichment history" should be available to enable continuation of enrichment programs or at least allow a qualified assessment of the effects of discontinuation. A good liaison of breeders with users of laboratory animals will facilitate the arrangement of compatible enrichment programmes.

6.10 Encourage EE description in the "methods section" of journal publications

The "materials and methods" section in scientific publications, often reveals a lack of information about the animals and their environmental conditions, contrary to that on instruments and chemicals, which are always carefully described (Öbrinck & Rehbinder, 1999). Investigators do not always realize the possible influence of environmental variables and animal characteristics on experimental results. As a result, animals and their living conditions including environmental enrichment are described inadequately or superficially (Davis *et al.* 1973, Lang & Vessel 1976, Clough 1982, Reinhardt 2004). Having to repeat experiments or hampering the reproducibility of results simply because they were poorly documented is time consuming, expensive and unjustified from an animal welfare perspective (Öbrinck & Rehbinder, 1999).

If journal editors make an adequate description of environmental enrichment (and other aspects of animal care) a mandatory condition for the acceptance of manuscripts, it will contribute to the comparability of the results of different studies and facilitate harmonization of environmental enrichment, and thus provide reviewers the opportunity to comment on it. Eventually this will help to eliminate "bad" and promote "good" (i.e. validated) enrichment.

7. Conclusions & Recommendations

- (1) Currently environmental enrichment is one of the most complex challenges for laboratory animal science and welfare. It is used more broadly and systematically only since recent years and its ultimate goal is to improve animal welfare **and** to enhance the outcome of animal experiments, or, at least to improve animal welfare without negatively affecting the scientific results. The complexity of this issue arises from the fact that a tremendous number of permutations of enrichment possibilities (social, physical) can be applied to various species/age groups/sexes. This makes it very difficult to establish general rules for the implementation of environmental enrichment and at the same time generates fears of compromising scientific results or harming instead of benefiting the animals.
- (2) The concept of environmental enrichment is based on a set of principles derived from different life science disciplines. These principles have to be taken into account to ensure that environmental enrichment programmes have a scientifically sound basis.

Thus, the concept of environmental enrichment is rooted in the following:

- a. Animals have physiological and behavioural needs. These needs are interrelated and their satisfaction affects physiological as well as behavioural responses, and thus well-being and experimental results.
- b. Complexity, control and predictability are essential elements for the successful establishment of an environmental enrichment programme, i.e. specific consideration of each of these elements (including their mutual influence) is necessary when introducing environmental enrichment.
- c. For a valid design of a (new) enrichment programme it is of key importance to be familiar with the natural history of the species in question and to be aware of "sensitive" periods during development which may be exploited for an effective enrichment strategy.
- (3) To ensure that enrichment achieves the aim of benefiting the animals it needs scientific evaluation. Ideally this evaluation would be a combination of hypothesisdriven studies carried out by qualified scientists (e.g. applied ethologists) and supervised "clinical trials" performed under field conditions in several animal facilities by animal care staff. Likewise it is important to enhance communication on ad-hoc enrichment ideas between animal care staff, animal welfare scientists and researchers for an indepth assessment of the benefit for the particular species or group of animals.
- (4) Concerns about an enrichment-induced increase in variability exist since a number of years. Even in mice, probably the species most extensively investigated in this regard, results seem to be contradictory. Concerns were raised as early as 1998 by Gaertner and supported by findings of Tsai et al. (2002, 2003). Others, e.g. van de Weerd et al. (2002), Augustsson et al. (2003) and most recently Wuerbel et al. (2005) described no effect or even a reduction of variability. Here we should also remember that an increased variability in some specific studies should be put in balance with the housing of thousands of animals. In other words, if as a result of the enrichment one researcher needs to increase his/her sample sizes by 20%, but associated with a 5% decrease of stereotypies in 10.000 mice housed in the facility, implementation of the enrichment may still be preferable. 3Rs are valid in experimentation AND in housing etc. (cost/benefit analysis). In addition, validity needs to be kept in mind. Validity refers to animals with proper baseline values, i.e. "more normal", non-biased animals in terms of their physiology and behaviour. Bias or deviation from normality can be caused by barren housing as well as by inadequate forms of enrichment. It is concluded that in the foreseeable future there will be no general answer to the issues of variablity and validity. Rather, both issues can mostly be addressed by cost/benefit analyses on a case-by case basis.
- (5) A systematic approach may be helpful for the practical design of an enrichment programme. This includes:
 - a. always to consider how to implement the species' social structure, as this is certainly the best way to enrich the housing, than look at the physical enrichment (complexity of accommodations and furniture, sensory and nutritional enrichment)
 - b. practical aspects summarised in the "Points to Consider" section.

(6) Environmental enrichment is a particularly complex component of animal husbandry and welfare. It was the working group's intention to clarify that it is unrealistic if not wrong to expect that the rather nascent process of implementing environmental enrichment could be standardised in an "engineer-type" manner. With the present document it was attempted to raise awareness that the only way to adress this problem are "performance standards", i.e. application of the principles of environmental enrichment and a scientific evaluation of the planned enrichment (including the assessment of variability and validity) under due consideration of practical aspects. Through such a process "performance standards" (="look at the effects"-approach) will evolve which will contribute to the harmonization of enrichment. In fact this evolution has already begun.

(7) The working group recommends:

- a. to establish databases of environmental enrichment programmes currently in place;
- b. to perform surveys of enrichment programmes currently in place;
- c. to strongly support a systematic scientific evaluation of important enrichment components already in use or intended for implementation;
- d. to identify new types of enrichment based on a scientific assessment of the animals needs;
- e. to encourage a description of the environmental enrichment used in the Materials and Methods" section of publications.

8. References

Alleva E (1993) Assessment of aggressive behavior in rodents. In: *Methods in Neurosciences: Paradigms for the Study of behavior* (Conn MP, ed). New York: Academic Press, pp111-137

Alleva E, Santucci D (2001) Psychosocial vs. "physical" stress situations in rodents and humans: role of neurotrophins. *Physiology and Behavior* **73**, 313-20

Augustsson H, Van de Weerd HA, Kruitwagen CL, Baumans V (2003) Effect of enrichment on variation and results in the light/dark test. *Laboratory Animals* **37**, 328-40

Bartolomucci A, Palanza P, Sacerdote P, Panerai AE, Sgoifo A, Dantzer R, Parmigiani S (2005) Social factors and individual vulnerabilità to chronic stress exposure. *Neuroscience Biobehavioral Review* **29**, 67-81

Baumans V (1997) Environmental enrichment: practical applications. In: *Animal Alternatives, Welfare and Ethics* (Van Zutphen LFM and Balls M, eds). The Netherlands: Elsevier BV pp 187-91

Baumans V (1999) The laboratory mouse. In: *UFAW Handbook on the Care and Management of Laboratory Animals,* Vol. 1 (Poole T, ed). Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd. pp 282-312 Baumans V (2000). Environmental Enrichment: a right of rodents! In: *Progress in the Reduction, Refinement and Replacement of Animal Experimentation* (Balls M, Van Zeller A-M and Halder M E, eds). Amsterdam: Elsevier pp 1251-1255

Baumans V (2004) The welfare of laboratory mice. In: *The Welfare of Laboratory Animals* (Kaliste E, ed). The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp 119-52

Baumans, V, Brain PF, Brugére H, Clausing P, Jeneskog T, Perretta G (1994) Pain and Distress in Laboratory Rodents and Lagomorphs. *Laboratory Animals* **28**, 97-112

Baumgardner DJ, Ward SE and Dewsbury DA (1980) Diurnal patterning of eight activities in 14 species of muroid rodents. *Animal Learning Behavior* **8**, 322-30

Bayne KAH, Beaver BV, Mench JA, and Morton DB (2002) Laboratory Animal Behavior. *Laboratory Animal Medicine*, 2nd Edition. Academic Press, New York, 1240-64

Benaroya-Milshtein N, Hollander N, Apter A Kukulansky T, Raz N, Wilf A, Yaniv I, Pick CG (2004) Environmental enrichment in mice decreases anxiety, attenuates stress responses and enhances natural killer cell activity. *European Journal of Neuroscience* **20**, 1341-47

Berkson G Mason WA, Saxon SV (1963) Situation and stimulus effect s on stereotyped behaviors of chimpanzees *Journal of Ccomparative Physiology and Psychology* **56**, 786-792

Berthoz A and Melvill-Jones G, Begue A (1981) In: *Lesion induced neuronal plasticity in Sensory motor systems* (Flohr and Precht, eds). Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, New York 275-83

Blom HJM (1993) *Evaluation of housing conditions for laboratory mice and rats*. Thesis Utrecht University, The Netherlands

Bloomsmith MA, Baker KC, Lambeth SP, Ross SK, Shapiro SJ (2001) Is giving chimpanzees control over environmental enrichment a good idea? In: *The Apes: Challenges for the 21st Century. Conference Proceedings*. Brookfield: Brookfield Zoo, pp 88-9

Bloomstrand M, Riddle K, Alford PL, Maple TL (1986) Objective evaluation of a behavioral enrichment device for captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *Zoo Biology* **5**, 293-300

Bourgeon S, Xerri C, Coq JO (2004) Abilities in tactile discrimination of textures in adult rats exposed to enriched or impoverished environments, *Behavioral Brain Research* **153**, 217-31

Brain PF (1999) The Laboratory Gerbil. In: *UFAW Handbook on the Care and Management of Laboratory Animals*. Vol. 1 (Poole T, ed).Oxford: Blackwell Science Ltd. pp 345-55

Bredy TW, Zhang TY, Grant RJ, Diorio J, Meaney MJ (2004) Peripubertal environmental enrichment reverses the effects of maternal care on hippocampal development and glutamate resceptor subunit expression, *European Journal of Neuroscience* **20**, 1460-73

Brinkman C (1996) Toys for the boys: environmental enrichment for singly housed adult male macaques. *Laboratory Primate Newsletter* **35**, 5-9

Canard G, Granjard J, Rizoud M,Bernard JM, Hardy P (2004) *Preliminar evaluation of basic enrichment in various breeding conditions with different rodent species (mice, rats and guinea-pigs) and strains, practical consequences for the implementation of an enrichment program in breeding facilities.* Abstract 9th Felasa symposium: Internationalization and harmonization in laboratory animal care and use issues. Nantes - France

Caston J, Devulder B, Jouen F and Lalonde R (1999) Role of an enriched environment on the restoration of behavioral deficits in lurcher mutant mice. *Development Psychobiology* **35**, 291-303

Chamove AS (1989) Enrichment in chimpanzees: unpredictable ropes and tools. *Journal of the Association of British Wild Animal Keepers* **16**, 139-41

Cirulli F, Pistillo L, de Acetis L, Alleva E, Aloe L (1998) Increased number of mast cells in the central nervous system of adult mice following chronic subordination stress. *Brain, Behavior and Immunity* **12**, 123-33

Claassen V (1994) *Neglected factors in Pharmacology and Neuroscience Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier

Clausing P, Mothes, HK, Opitz, B (2000) Preweaning experience as a modifier of prenatal drug effects in rats and mice – a review. *Neurotoxicology and teratology* **22**, 113-123

Clough G (1982) Environmental effects on animals used in biomedical research. *Biological Reviews* 57, 487-523

Coelho AM Jr, Carey KD (1990) A social tethering system for nonhuman primates used in laboratory research. *Lab Anim Sci* **40** (4), 388-94.

Coq JO and Xerri C (1998) Environmental enrichment alters organizational features of the forepaw representation in the primary somatosensory cortex of adult rats. *Experimental Brain Research* **121**, 191-204.

Cotman C, Berchtold NC (2002) Exercise: a behavioural intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity. *Trends in Neuroscience* **25**, 295-300

Council of Europe (1997 *Resolution on the Accommodation and Care of Laboratory Animals, adopted by the multilateral consultation* on 30 May 1997, Strasbourg

Curtis SE (1987) Animal well-being and animal care. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice* **3**, 369-82

Davis DE, Bennett CL, Berkson G, Lang CM, Snyder RL, Pick JR (1973) *ILAR Committee* on Laboratory Animal Ethology recommendations for a standardized minimum description of animal treatment. Institute for Laboratory animal Research News **16**, 3-4

Dawkins MS (1983) Battery hens name their price: consumer demand theory and the measurement of ethological 'needs'. *Animal Behaviour* **31**, 1195-1205

Dean SW (1999) Environmental enrichment of laboratory animals used in regulatory toxicology studies. *Laboratory Animals* **33**, 309-27

Eskola S, Lauhikari M, Voipio HM, Nevalainen T (1999) The use of aspen blocks and tubes to enrich the cage environment of laboratory rats. *Scandinavian Journal of Laboratory Animal Science* **26**, 1-10

European Commission (1986) Council Directive 86/609/EEC. Paris

Gaertner K (1998) "Cage enrichment" may enhance variance of experimental data and number of experimental animals needed? Presented at the GV-Solas Meeting, September 1998, Hamburg, Germany

Gaertner K, Buettner D, Dohler K, Friedel R, Lindena J, Trautschold I (1980) Stress response of rats to handling and experimental procedures. *Laboratory Animals* **14**, 267-74

Galef BG, Sorge RE (2000) Use of PVC conduits by rats of various strains and ages housed singly and in pairs. *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science* **3**, 279-292

Garner JP, Mason J and Smith R (2003) Stereotypic route-tracing in experimentally caged songbirds correlates with general behavioral desinhibition *Animal Behaviour* **66**, 711-27

Haemisch A, Gärtner K (1994) The cage design affects intermale aggression in small groups of male laboratory mice: strain specific consequences on social organization, and endocrine activations in two inbred strains (DBA/2J and CBA/J). *Journal of Experimental Animal Science* **36**, 101-16

Hanson JD, Larson ME, Snowdon CT (1976) The effects of control over high intensity noise plasma cortisol levels in rhesus monkeys. *Behavioural Biology* **16**, 333-40

Hartsock TG, Graves HB (1976) Neonatal behavior and nutrition-related mortality in domestic swine. *Journal of Animal Science* **42**, 235-41.

Hartsock TG, Graves HB, Baumgardt BR (1977) Agonist behavior and the nursing order in suckling piglet: relationship with survival, growth and body composition. *Journal of Animal Science* **44**, 320-30.

Hawkins P, Morton DB, Bevan R, Heath K, Kirkwood J, Pearce P, Scott L, Whelan G, Webb A (2004) Husbandry refinements for rats, mice, dogs and non-human primates used in telemetry procedures: Seventh report of the BVAAWF/FRAME/RSPCA/UFAW Joint Working Group on Refinement, Part B. *Laboratory Animals* **38**, 1-10

Hebb DO (1947) The effects of early experience on problem solving at maturity. *American Psychologist* **2**, 206-207

Hediger H (1950) Wild animals in captivity. London: Butterworth

Hockly E (2002) Environmental enrichment slows disease progression in R6/2 Huntington's disease mice. *Annals of Neurology* **51**, 235-42

Howard BR (2002) Control of Variability. ILAR Journal 43, 194-201

Hubrecht RC (1993) A comparison of social and environmental enrichment methods for laboratory housed dogs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **37**, 345-61

Hubrecht RC (1995) Enrichment in puppyhood and its effects on later behavior of dogs. *Laboratory Animal Science* **45**, 70-5

Hurnik JF, Lehman H (1988) Ethics and farm animal welfare. *Journal of Agricultural Ethics* **1**, 305-18

Hurst JL, Fang JM, Barnard C (1994) The role of substrate odours in maintaining social tolerance between male house mice, mus musculus domesticus: relatedness, incidental kinship effects and the establishment of social status. *Animal Behaviour* **48**, 157-67 Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources (1996) *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Commission on Life Sciences.* National Research Council. Washington DC: National Academy Press

Jennings M, Batchelor GR, Brain PF, Dick A; Elliott H, Francis RJ, Hubrecht RC, Hurst JL, Morton DB, Peters AG, Raymond R, Sales GD, Sherwin CM, West C (1998) Refining rodent husbandry: the mouse - Report of the rodent refinement working party. *Laboratory Animals* **32**, 233-59

Jensen P, Toates FM (1993) Who needs "behavioural needs"? Motivational aspects of the needs of animals. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **37**, 161-81

ILAR (1996) The guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.

Kaliste-Korhonen E, Eskola S, Rekilä T, Nevalainen T (1995) Effects of gnawing material, group size and cage level in rack on Wistar rats. *Scand J Laboratory Animal Science* **22**, 291-9

Keller EL, Precht W (1981) Adaptative modification in brainstem pathways during vestibuloocular reflex recalibration in Sensory motor systems. In: Lesion-induced Neuronal

Plasticity in Sensimotor Systems (Flohr H and Precht W, eds). Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, New York, 285-93

Krohn TC, Ritskes-Hoitinga J, Svendsen P (1999) The effect of feeding and housing on the behaviour of the laboratory rabbit. *Laboratory Animals* **33**,101-7

Ladewig J, Sorensen DB, Nielsen PP, Matthews LR (2002) The quantitative measurement of motivation: generation of demand functions under open versus closed economies. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **79**, 325-31

Lang CM, Vesell ES (1976) Environmental and genetic factors affecting laboratory animals: impact on biomedical research. *Federation Proceedings* **35**, 1123-4

Larsson F, Winblad B and Mohammed AH (2002) Psychological stress and environmental adaptation in enriched vs. impoverished housed rats. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior* **73**, 193-207

Laviola G, Rea M, Morley-Fletcher S, Di Carli S, Bacosi A, De Simone R, Bertini M, Pacifici R (2004) Beneficial effects of enriched environment on adolescent rars from stressed pregnancies. *European Journal of Neuroscience* **20**, 1655-64

Lewis MH. (2004) Environmental complexity and central nervous system development and function. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews* **10**, 91-95

Love JA (1994) Group housing: meeting the physical and social needs of the laboratory rabbit. *Laboratory Animal Science* **44**, 5-11

Manser CE, Broom DM, Overend P, Morris TM (1998) Investigations into the preferences of laboratory rats for nestboxes and nesting materials. *Laboratory Animals* **32**, 23-35

Marashi V, Barnekow A, Ossendorf E, Sachse N (2003) Effect of different forms of environmental enrichment on behavioral, endocrinological and immunological parameters in male mice. *Hormones and Behavior* **43**, 281-92

Markowitz H, Line S (1989) Primate research models and environmental enrichments. In: *Housing, Care and Psychological Well-being of Captive Laboratory Primates* (Segal EF, ed) New Jersey: Noyes Publications, pp 203-12

Mason G (1991a) Stereotypes and Suffering. Behavioural Processes 25, 103-15

Mason GJ (1991b) Stereotypies: a critical review. Animal Behaviour 41, 1015-37

Mason GJ, Latham NR (2004) Can't stop, won't stop: is stereotypy a reliable animal welfare indicator? *Animal Welfare* **13**, S57-S69

Mason G, Mendl M (1993) Why is there no simple way of measuring animal welfare? *Animal Welfare* **2**, 302-19

Mason G, McFarland D, Garner J. (1998) A demanding task: using economic techniques to assess animal priorities. *Animal Behaviour* **55**, 1071-75

Meaney MJ, Aitken DH, Sharma S, Viau V (1992) Basal ACTH, corticosterone and corticosterone-binding globulin levels over the diurnal cycle, and age-related changes in hippocampal type I and type II corticosteroid receptor binding capacity in young and aged, handled and nonhandled rats. *Neuroendocrinology* **55**, 204-13

Mench JA (1998) Environmental enrichment and the importance of exploratory behaviour. In:

Second nature, environmental enrichment for captive animals. (Shepherdson DJ, Mellen JD, Hutchins M, eds). Washington and London: Smithsonian Institution Press pp 30-46

Moons CPH, Van de Wiele P, Ödberg FO (2004) To enrich or not to enrich : Providing shelter does not complicate handling of laboratory mice. Contemporary topics in *Laboratory Animal Science* **43**, 18-21

Morton DB, Jennings M, Batchelor GR, Bell D, Birke L, Davies K, Eveliegh JR, Gunn D, Heath M, Howard B, Koder P, Phillips J, Poole T, Sainsbury AW, Sales GD, Smith DJA, Stauffacher M, Turner RJ (1993) Refinements in rabbit husbandry. Second report of the BVAAWF/FRAME/RSPCA/UFAW Joint working group on refinement. *Laboratory Animals* **27**, 301-29

Niethammer J (1988) Wühler. In: *Säugetiere, Bd. 3. Grzimek Enzyklopädie*, München: Kindler Verlag, pp 206-65

Nolen GA and Alexander JC (1966) Effects of diet and type of nesting material on the reproduction and lactation of the rat. *Laboratory Animal Care* **16**, 327-36

Norris ML and Adams CE (1976) Incidence of pup mortality in the rat with particular reference to nesting material, maternal age and parity. *Laboratory Animals* **10**, 165-69

Öbrink KJ, RehbinderC (1999) Animal definition: a necessity for the validity of animal experiments? *Laboratory Animals* **22**, 121-30

Olsson IAS and Dahlborn K (2002) Improving housing conditions for laboratory mice: a review of 'environmental enrichment'. *Laboratory Animals* **36**, 243-70

Ostermeyer NC (1983) Maternal aggression. In: *Parental Behaviour in Rodents* (Elwood RW, ed). Chicester: Wiley, pp 151-79

Paulk HH, Dienske H, Ribbens LG (1977) Abnormal behavior in relation to cage size in rhesus monkey. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* **86**, 87-92

Paulk HH, Dienske H, Ribbens LG (1977) Abnormal behavior in relation to cage size in rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology* **86**, 87-92

PattersonKane EG (2004) Enrichment of laboratory caging for rats: a review. *Animal Welfare* **13**, S209-S214

Pietropaolo S, Branchi I, Cirulli F, Chiarotti F, Aloe L, Alleva E (2004) Long-term effects of the periadolescent environment on exploratory activity and aggressive behaviour in mice: social versus physical enrichment. *Physiology and Behavior* **81**, 443-53

Platt DM, Novak MA (1997) Videostimulation as enrichment for captive rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **52**, 139-55

Poole T (1997) Happy animals make good science. Laboratory Animals 31, 116-24

Poole TB (1998) Meeting a mammal's psychological needs. In : Shepherdon DJ, Mellen JD, Hutchins M (eds). *Second Nature: Environmental enrichment for Captive animals*. Washington: Smithsonian Institute Press 83-94

Porter G, Lane-Petter W (1965) The provision of sterile bedding and nesting materials with their effects on breeding mice. *Journal Animal Technicians Association* **16**, 5-8.

Powell SB, Newman HA, Pendergast JF and Lewis MH (1999) A rodent model of spontaneous stereotypy: initial characterization of developmental, environmental and neurobiological factors. *Physiology and Behavior* **66**, 2, 355-63

Reber A, Sarrau JM, Carnet J, Magnin M, Steltz T (1991) The horizontal optokinetic nystagmus in unilaterally enucleated pigmented rats: role of the pretectal commissural fibers. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* **313**, 604-12

Reinhardt V (2002) Comfortable Quarters for Primates in Research Institutions. In: *Comfortable quarters for laboratory animals* (Reinhardt V, Reinhardt A, eds). Washington: Animal Welfare Institute. pp 65-77 <u>http://www.awionline.org/pubs/cq02/cqindex.html</u> (accessed Winter 2004/2005)

Reinhardt V (2004) Common husbandry-related variables in biomedical research with animals. *Laboratory Animals* **38**, 213-35

Reinhardt V, Reinhardt A (2000) Meeting the social space requirements of pair-housed primates. *Laboratory Primates Newsletter* **39**, 7

Reinhardt V, Reinhardt A (2002) *Comfortable quarters for laboratory animals*. Washington: Animal Welfare Institute. <u>http://www.awionline.org/pubs/cq02/Cq-prim.html</u> (accessed Winter 2004/2005)

Reinhardt V, Liss C, Stevens C. (1996) Space requirement stipulations for caged non-human primates in the United States: A critical review. *Animal Welfare* **5**, 361-372

Robert C, Reber A (1998) A Baysian modeling of a pharmaceutical experiment with heterogeneous responses. Sankhya Ser. B, **60**, 145-60

Rose MA (1994) Environmental factors likely to impact on an animal's well-being – an overview. In: *Improving the well-being of animals in the research environment* (Baker, RM, Jenkin, G. and Mellor, DJ, eds). Adelaide: ANZCCART pp 99-116

Russell WMS, Burch RL (1959) Principles of Humane Experimental Technique. London: Methuen

Sambrook TD, Buchanan-Smith HM (1997) Control and complexity in novel object enrichment. *Animal Welfare* **6**, 207-216

Schaefer GJ, Michael RP (1991) Housing conditions alter the acquisition of brain selfstimulation and locomoter activity in adult rats. *Physiology and Behavior* 49, 635-638

Sharp JL, Zammit TG, Azar TA, Lawson DM (2003) Stress-like responses to common procedures in individually and group-housed female rats. *Contemporary Topics in Laboratory Animal Science* **42**, 9-18

Sharp J, Zammit T, Azar T, Lawson D (2002) Does Witnessing Experimental Procedures Produce Stress in Male Rats? *Contemporary Topics in Laboratory Animal Science* **41**, 8-12

Shepherdson DJ (1998) Tracing the path of environmental enrichment in zoos. In: *Second Nature – Environmental Enrichment for Captive Animals* (Shepherdson DJ, Mellen JD, Hutchins M, eds). Washington Smithsonian Institute Press, pp 1-12

Shepherdson DJ, Mellen JD, Hutchins M (1999) Second Nature – Environmental Enrichment for Captive Animals. Washington: Smithsonian Institute Press

Sherwin CM (1997) Observations on the prevalence of nestbuilding in non-breeding TO strain mice and their use of two nesting materials. *Laboratory Animals* **31**, 125-32

Sherwin CM (1998) The use and perceived importance of three resources which provide caged laboratory mice the opportunity for extended locomotion. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **55**, 353-67

Sherwin CM (2002) Comfortable quarters for mice in research institutions. In: *Comfortable quarters for laboratory animals* (Reinhardt V and Reinhardt A, eds). 9th ed. Washington: Animal Welfare Institute. pp 6-17

Sherwin, CM (2004a) The influences of standard laboratory cages on rodents and the validity of research data. *Animal Welfare* **13**, S9-S15

Sherwin CM (2004b) Mirrors as potential environmental enrichment for individually housed laboratory mice. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **87**, 95-103

Sherwin CM, Nicol CJ (1995) Changes in meal patterning by mice measure the cost imposed by natural obstacles. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **43**, 291-300

Smith TE, McGreer-Whitworth B, French JA (1998) Close proximity of the heterosexual partner reduces the physiological and behavioral consequences of novel-cage housing in black tufted-ear marmosets (*Callithrix kuhli*). *Hormones and Behavior* **34**, 211-22

Snowdon CT, Savage A (1989) Psychological well-being of captive primates: general considerations and examples from callitrichids. In: *Housing, care and psychological wellbeing of captive and laboratory primates* (Segal E, ed). New Jersey: Noyes Publications, pp75-88

Sørensen DB, Ottesen JL, Hansen AK (2004) Consequences of enhancing complexity for laboratory rodents- a review with emphasis on the rat. *Animal Welfare* **13**, 193-204

Stauffacher M (1997) Housing requirements: What ethology can tell us. In: *Animal Alternatives, Welfare and Ethics* (Van Zutphen LFM, Balls M, eds). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science BV Publ. pp 179-186

Stauffacher M (2000) Refinement in rabbit housing and husbandry. In: *Progress in the Reduction, Refinement and Replacement of Animal Experimentation, Developments in Animal and Veterinary Sciences* (Balls M, van Zeller AM, Halder M, eds). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science BV Publ. pp 1269-77

Stewart KL, Bayne K (2004) Environmental enrichment for laboratory animals. In: *Laboratory Animal medicine and Management* (Reuter JD, Suckow MA, eds). International veterinary Information service (ww.ivis.org)

Tomasello M, Call J (1997) Animal Cognition. New York: Oxford University Press

Townsend P (1997) Use of in-cage shelters by laboratory rats. Animal Welfare 6, 95-103

Tsai PP, Pachowsky U, Stelzer HD, Hackbarth H (2002) Impact of environmental enrichment in mice. 1: Effect of housing conditions on body weight, organ weights and haematology in different strains. *Laboratory Animals* **36**, 411-419

Tsai PP, Stelzer HD, Hedrich HJ, Hackbarth H (2003) Are the effects of different enrichment designs on the physiology and behaviour of DBA/2 mice consistent? *Laboratory Animals* **37**, 314-327

Turner RJ, Held SD, Hirst JE, Billinghurst G, Wootton RJ (1997) An immunological assessment of group housed rabbits. *Laboratory Animals* **31**, 362-72

Van de Weerd HA, Baumans V (1995) Environmental Enrichment in Rodents. In: Environmental enrichment information resources for laboratory animals. *AWIC Resource*, Series No. 2: 145-9

Van de Weerd HA, Aarsen EL, Mulder A, Kruitwagen CLJJ, Hendriksen CFM, Baumans V (2002) Effects of environmental enrichment for mice: variation in experimental results. *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, **5**, 87-109. Van de Weerd HA, Van Loo PLP, Van Zutphen LFM, Koolhaas JM, Baumans V (1997a)

Preferences for nesting material as environmental enrichment for laboratory mice. *Laboratory Animals* **31**, 133-43

Van de Weerd HA, van Loo PLP, van Zutphen LFM, Koolhaas JM and Baumans V (1997b) Nesting material as environmental enrichment has no adverse effects on behavior and physiology of laboratory mice. *Physiology and Behavior* **62**, 1019-28

Van de Weerd HA, Van Loo PLP, Van Zutphen LFM, Koolhaas JM and Baumans V (1998) Strength of preference for nesting material as environmental enrichment in laboratory mice. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **55**, 369-82

Van Loo PLP, Kruitwagen CLJJ, Van Zutphen LFM, Koolhaas JM and Baumans V (2000) Modulation of aggression in male mice: influence of cage cleaning regime and scent marks. *Animal Welfare* **9**, 281

Van Loo PLP, Croes IAA, Baumans V (2004) *Music for mice: Does it affect behaviour and physiology?* Abstract Telemetry Workshop. FELASA meeting, Nantes, France.

Van Loo PLP, Kruitwagen CLJJ, Koolhaas JM, Van de Weerd HA, Van Zutphen LFM, Baumans V (2002) Influence of cage enrichment on aggressive behaviour and physiological parameters in male mice. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **76**, 65-81

Van Loo PL, Van Zutphen LF, Baumans V (2003) Male management: Coping with aggression problems in male laboratory mice. *Laboratory Animals* **37**, 300-13

Veasey JS, Warn NK, Young RJ (1996) On comparing the behaviour of zoo housed animals with wild conspecifics as a welfare indicator. *Animal Welfare* **5**, 13-24

Vom Saal FS (1989) Sexual differentiation in litter bearing mammals: influence of sex of adjacent fetuses in utero. *Journal of Animal Science* **67**, 1824-40.

Waiblinger E, Konig B (2004) Refinement of gerbil housing and husbandry in the laboratory. *Animal Welfare* **13**, S229-35

Warburton H, Mason G (2003) Is out of sight out of mind? The effects of resource cues on motivation in mink, Mustela vison. *Animal Behaviour* **65**, 755-62

Warburton HJ, Nicol CJ (2001) The relationship between behavioural priorities and animal welfare: A test using the laboratory mouse *Mus musculus*. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section A - Animal Science **51**, Supplement 30, 124-130

Wuerbel H (2005) Environmental enrichment does not disrupt standardization. *3R*-*INFOBulletin 30* (http://www.forschung3r.ch/fr/publications/bu30.html)

Young R (2003) *Environmental enrichment for captive animals*. UFAW Animal Welfare Series, Blackwell Oxford